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A LOST BYZANTINE MONASTERY
AT PALATITZIA - VERGINA'

Even before the spectacular find of a major
Macedonian royal tomb in the 1970s, the name
of Vergina was well known among students of
ancient Greek art and civilization. The area
first became a focus of archaeological atten-
tion in the 1850s and 60s, when the remains of

a large Hellenistic palace were brought to
light? (Fig. 1). The palace is situated on a pro-
minent plateau, overlooking the pastoral val-
ley of the Aliakmon river, roughly at the half-
point between Vergina and the nearby village
of Palatitzia. Léon Heuzey, the French archaeo-

Fig. 1. Site Plan
of Ancient Palace
(after J. Travlos);
Area of lost
monastery shaded.
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logist who first visited the site in 1855, re-
ported seeing there a “picturesque ruin” of a
long-since abandoned Byzantine chapel®. The
remains of the chapel, which he identified as
Hagia Triada, were subsequently completely
removed during the major excavations of the
palace®. Thus it became one of a number of
such modern cultural losses occasioned by the
zeal of nineteenth and early twentieth-centu-
ry classical arhaeology. Its loss would have
been complete were it not for the three en-
gravings published by Heuzey and his collabo-
rator Daumet5. The engravings in question —a
site plan and two elevations— were made in
September 1861, just before the final de-
struction of the chapel. Despite their intrinsic
importance, these engravings, published in a
volume that deals largely with Classical and
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Hellenistic material, have completely escaped
the attention of Byzantinists.

A closer inspection of the site plan publi-
shed by Heuzey and Daumet reveals that the
‘picturesque ruin’ which he referred to, in-
volved considerably more than a mere chapel.
In fact, it involved an entire small monastic
complex straddling the remains of the gate of
the ancient palace (Fig. 2). Its roughly rectan-
gular enclosure measured approximately 28 to
30m in width, by 38m in length. Notwithstan-
ding the ruinous state of the monastic quar-
ters, as depicted on the site plan, it is clear
that a series of rooms of differing sizes and
shapes lined the outer enclosure walls, leaving
an open central courtyard, with the church in
the middle. Although we are not in the posi-
tion to discuss, the architectural character of
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Fig. 2. Partially excavated NE corner of Ancient Palace with traces of Byzantine Monastery; plan (Heuzey
and Daumet).
Eix. 2. Mepix1 avaoka@rn tne BA ywoviag tou apxaiou avaktépou ue ta iyvn tng Budavriviic povijg. Kdrown
(Heuzey ka1 Daumet).
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this monastic compound, it is clear that the
monastery and the church were planned and
built simultaneously (Fig. 3). The entire lay-
out is remarkably regular, and would seem to
suggest that no major additions or alterations
took place before the final demise of the small
monastery. The planning principles employed
are consistent with what we know about the
planning of Byzantine monasteries, as illu-
strated by the plan of the eleventh-century
monastery of Hosios Meletios on Mt. Hymet-
tos near Athens® (Fig. 4). What the plan of
Hosios Meletios and the plan of our monastery
have in common is the relative simplicity and
regularity of the layout, rarely encountered
among Byzantine monastic complexes. In most
cases, regularity if employed at all, would ha-
ve been characteristic of the initial layout,
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but subsequent additions and modifications
generally tended to alter the original appe-
rance of a given complex’. Therefore, the ge-
neral simplicity and regularity of the Palatit-
zia monastery plan would seem to suggest
that the monastic community never grew be-
yond its original size and that the monastic
compound itself was neither expanded nor al-
tered before its ultimate demise. All factors
point to the possibility that the actual life
span of the monastery was relatively limited,
possibly cut short by an event such as a natu-
ral catastrophe or an invasion. While this ob-
servation cannot serve as a dating criterion, it
could imply a relatively late date of the mona-
stery’s foundation, whose life before the Otto-
man conquest of these territories would have
been too short for a significant growth and
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Fig. 3. Byzantine Monastery; plan (author).
Eix. 3. H Budavtivi) povi) (0xé610 ToU ypd@povtog).
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changes to have occurred. We will return to
the question of probable dating again below.
Turning to the architecture of the church
itself, it should be noted that the drawings
published by Heuzey and Daumet provide us
with a number of helpful details. The church
consisted of a single-aisled core (measuring ca.
4.75 x 9m) and of what may be termed an ou-
ter, U-shaped envelope of subsidiary spaces
(Fig. 5). My drawing, based on the published
plan, suggests that joints between the build-
ing core and the outer envelope might be in-
terpreted as evidence for the existence of two
building phases. This, however, cannot be the
case. The side walls of the naos were perfora-
ted by symmetrical pairs of double arcades
each supported in the middle by a Doric co-
lumn shaft pilfered from the ruins of the pa-
lace. The engraving of the ruined church
showing it from the north, illustrates that the
north wall had collapsed almost entirely, and
that the south wall had undergone serious
structural repairs in the form of blocking up
of the two arched openings supported on a
Doric column (Fig. 6). An interesting aspect of
the placement of the two re-used ancient co-
lumns is that they practically coincided in
space with the locations of two columnar ele-
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. Fig. 4. Mt. Hymettos,
. R Hosios Meletios Monastery;
plan (Krautheimer).
E1k. 4. Ypunuog, Movn
Ayiou Meleviou. Kdvoyn

(Krautheimer).

ments of the original palace propylon. Heuzey
and Daumet reconstructed these two column-
ar elements as Ionic piers with engaged se-
mi-columns, but this interpretation has more
recently met with critical re-evaluation of
the problem® For our purposes, the presence
of Doric columns supporting double arched
openings in the exterior walls of the naos
simply implies that the arrangement could
only have made sense in conjunction with an
envelope enclosure. The elongated naos termi-
nated in an apse, semicircular within and
three-sided externally. Within the apse was
an altar table evidently also supported on an
ancient column drum.

An additional arched opening on the north
side must have functioned as a passageway
between the sanctuary and the prothesis, like-
wise presuming the existence of an envelo-
ping space around the building core. No traces
of an iconostasis screen were recorded, though
one must have existed. Judging by the infor-
mation gleaned from the elevations of the
building ruin, the naos was never vaulted, but
was covered with a wooden shed roof, as must
have been the enveloping space.

Another feature identified in plan publi-
shed by Heuzey and Daumet as an integral
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Fig. 5. Monastery Church;
plan, reconstruction
(author).

Eix. 5. KaBoliké tnc
povig. Kdaroyn-
avamapaotaon

(Ttou ypagovtog).
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Fig. 6. View of church ruins from N; engraving (Heuzey and Daumet).
E1k. 6. Anoyn twv gpeiriov tou vaou ané B. Xapaktiké (Heuzey ka1 Daumet).
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part of the building core actually appears to be
the result of a separate building phase. The
feature in question is a pair of spur walls on
the west side of the building core. Of uneven
size in plan, they were nonetheless drawn as
though they formed a type of a narthex-like
space preceding the naos. The fact of the mat-
ter is that these were subsequently added wall
buttresses. The side view of the building clear-
ly shows a continuous joint between the re-
maining section of the north outer wall of the
naos and the northwestern buttress mass (Fig.
6). Also built from re-used ancient building
blocks, this buttress was probably added soon
after the completion of the original construc-
tion. The need for buttressing apparently a-
rose on account of improper founding of the
building. The western part of the naos was
built just outside the massive threshold of the
ancient palace gate. Lacking a proper found-
ation of its own the western naos wall proba-
bly began sinking and leaning forward, as the
engraving clearly shows. In order to prevent
its imminent collapse the monks were compel-
led to call on a builder to repair the damage.
How this intervention may have effected the
arrangement of the enveloping space cannot be
determined from the available evidence.

The choice of site — leveled ruins of an an-
cient palace — must have been a particular
challenge and possibly an attraction for the
monks responsible for the founding of this
small monastery. Erecting monasteries and
churches over ancient remains had long since
been a challenge for monks everywhere in the
Mediterranean world. In this case, the site was
distinguished by the splendid view from its
elevated plateau overlooking the plain with the
Aliakmon River meandering in the distance. In
addition to these, there must have also been
strong practical considerations that would have
influenced the choice of the site. Ready avail-
ability of large building block was certainly not
a negligible matter. The church and the mona-
stery complex, as is readily apparent from the
Heuzey and Daumet engravings, were built of
these spoils. Such practice was commonly
resorted to in Byzantine building practice in
relationship to buildings of all sizes®.

General architectural characteristics of our
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church reveal a type common in the Late By-
zantine period. Especially relevant in this con-
text is a comparison with churches in the
nearby town of Veroia (Verria), a prosperous
center during the fourteenth century. A recent
study of the churches at Veroia has revealed
that verifiably at least twenty-two of these
were already in existence during the four-
teenth or fifteenth centuries!®. Most of these
churches display similarities of scale and gene-
ral spatial articulation with the Palatitzia-
Vergina church. Though majority of these ap-
pear to have been parish churches and not
monastic in function, the same builders would
in all likelihood have been responsible for
building both. Two of these churches deserve
particular attention on account of their typo-
logy and size. The first is the church of H.
Georgios tou Archontos Grammatikou, a build-
ing displaying several building phases, the
first of which belongs to the fourteenth centu-
ry and displays strong similarities with the
Palatitzia-Vergina church!! (Fig. 7). Its core
measuring ca. 5 x 10.5m, the entire church ca.
11.5 x 13.75m, it is also very close in actual
measurements to the church at Palatitzia-
Vergina. Even closer would have been the
interior disposition — the naos separated from
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Fig. 7. Veroia, H Georgios tou Archontos Gram-
matikou; plan, partial reconstruction (after Th. Pa-
pazotos).

Eix. 7. Bépoia. Ayioc I'ewdpyiog¢ tou Apxoviog
I'papparvikoy. Kdvown-pepiki avamapdotaon (6.
Iamadwtog).
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Fig. 8. Veroia, Panagia Perivleptos; plan, partial
reconstruction (after Th. Papazotos).
Eik. 8. Bépoia. Ilavayia Ilepi6lentog. Kdtown-
pepikn avamrapdotaon (0. Iamadwtog).
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Fig. 9. Thessaloniki, Hagios Nikolaos Orphanos;
plan (after A. Xyngopoulos; delineated by J. Bog-
danovic); survining original pats shown in black.
Eix. 9. Ocooalovikn. Ayio¢ Nikodaos Opeavig.
Kdarvown (A. Euyyonouldog avaoy. J. Bogdanovic).

Fig. 10a. View of the eastern facade of Hagios Nikolaos Orphanos in Thessaloniki.

Eix. 10a. Avatvoldikn own tou Ayiou Nikoddou Opgavou Oeooalovikng.
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the envelope spaces by double arcades support-
ed on a single column, on the north and the
south sides!?2 The second church with similar
characteristics is the Panagia Perivleptos, wh-
ose earliest phase may belong to the fifteenth
century, possibly just after the Ottoman con-
quest of Veroial® (Fig. 8). Here the building co-
re measures ca. 5.5 x 9.5m and shares essentia-
lly identical layout with the church at Palati-
zia-Vergina. Presence of these two churches in
Veroia dating from the Late Byzantine period,
strongly indicates that the Palatitzia church
also ought to belong to the same period.
Another late Byzantine monument - the
monastic church of Hagios Nikolaos Orphanos,
in Thessaloniki — also displays a strikingly si-
milar disposition of the plan (Fig. 9). Its well-
preserved fresco program was painted someti-
me between 1310 and 1320 and, therefore, its
architecture is thought to be from the same
period!% The core of Hagios Nikolaos is some-
what smaller than the Palatitzia-Vergina
church in its overall dimensions (merely ca.
4.5 x 6.5m). Yet, because of its unusually wide
envelope spaces (ca. 4m including the exterior
wall thickness), it comes close to matching the
size of our church. Equally significant is the
close relationship in the articulation of its
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interior spaces and those of the Palatitzia-
Vergina church. The lateral naos walls of Ha-
gios Nikolaos open in two symmetrical pairs
of double arcades supported in the middle on
a re-used late-antique column. In addition, as
in the Palatitzia-Vergina church, a single
arched opening in the north wall leads form
the sanctuary into the adjacent area that once
must have functioned as the prothesis. Because
of the openness of the central core, the ambu-
latory spaces of Hagios Nikolaos, as in our
church, must have been part of the original
design scheme. The joints between the core and
the ‘envelope’, shown on the Heuzey-Daumet
plan merely indicates separate stages of con-
struction and do not necessarily imply two dif-
ferent phases in the life of the building.!® (Fig. 2).
Thus, in terms of its overall architectural form
and its dimensions the Palatitzia-Vergina
church should be visualized as having been
closely related to several Late Byzantine chur-
ches at Veroia and Thessaloniki.

The engravings of the Palatitsia-Vergina
church reveal further useful information re-
garding its constructional and decorative as-
pects. One of the most telling constructional
feature is the naos portal fully visible in the
view of the church ruins shown from the west
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Fig. 10b. View of church ruins from W; engraving (Heuzey and Daumet).
Eix. 106. Amown epeimiov tou vaou amd A. Xapaktiko (Heuzey ka1 Daumet).
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(Fig. 10). The dimensions of this portal can be
reconstructed reasonably accurately. Given the
size of its clear opening as it appears in the
plan - ca. 1.25m - the total height of the por-
tal, including the semicircular niche above its
lintel, was around 4.5m, while the opening
itself was around 2.5m high. The general effect
is one of extreme elongation of proportions,
resulting largely from the stilting of the niche
above the main lintel. Such elongation of pro-
portions is known, and first occurs in architec-
ture of the central Balkans during the third
and fourth decades of the fourteenth century.
As a useful comparison we may cite the small
church of St. Nicholas at Sigevo (Nir) on the
outskirts of Skopje, probably built during the
1340s or early 1350s!6 (Fig. 11). Portals featur-
ing such stilted proportions appear on a num-
ber of buildings —ecclesiastical and secular—
that are datable to the decades before and
after the middle of the fourteenth century!”.
The Heuzey and Daumet engraving also
reveals that a fresco image was preserved
within the arched niche above the church
door. An image in this position normally
would contain the depiction of a saint or a
feast to which the church was dedicated. The

Fig. 11. Sisevo (Nir), Church of St. Nicholas; west
facade (photo: author).

Ei1xk. 11. XioeBo (Nir). Naogc Ayiou Nikolddou.
Avtikn own (Qwt. TOU ypd@ovtog).
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somewhat blurred rendition of this image in
the published engraving does not facilitate
easy identification. It is only possible to rec-
ognize that three figures are represented. The
central, larger figure seems to be seated, whi-
le the two smaller figures seem to be facing
the central figure in a symmetrical arrange-
ment, to the left and to the right. Such an ar-
rangement of figures most closely resembles
the iconography of an enthroned Theotokos
flanked by two archangels, though other pos-
sible subjects should not be dismissed out-
right. If this interpretation were correct, the
likely dedication of the church would have
been to the Theotokos. In this context, it may
be worthwhile to question where the dedi-
cation of the church to Hagia Triada (Holy
Trinity), mentioned by Heuzey, may have co-
me from. One assumes that the dedication
was reported to him by the local peasants.
Was the church really dedicated to Hagia Tri-
ada and was it remembered as such by the lo-
cals, or was Heuzey himself attempting to in-
terpret the dedicatory image in the niche a-
bove the main portal? If the latter were the
case, than we can rightly ask again — who
were the three figures in the niche above the
portal and how Heuzey may have interpreted
them? Attempting to answer this question
from our vantage point would be shear specu-
lation, however. As such, it would take us
almost certainly too far astray without con-
tributing constructively to our analysis.

The engravings published by Heuzey and
Daumet show additional frescoes at the time
still preserved on the walls of the ruined
church. These include two standing figures
flanking the portal on the north side of the
west wall, and a single standing figure flank-
ing the portal on the south side. All three fig-
ures have halos, but their identities cannot be
easily discerned. The significant difference
between the three is in the fact that the two
on the north side of the portal are depicted
much closer to the floor level of the church,
whereas the one on the south side appears
much more elevated. This arrangement is
strange, because in Byzantine church interiors
the dado zone generally has a uniform height
throughout the building. An arrangement, as
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seen here, could imply various reasons for the
existence of such a discrepancy. One of them
would be that what is shown here are rem-
nants of two different layers of fresco paint-
ings. Again, as interesting as contemplation of
such speculative possibilities may be, it would
bring us no closer to understanding the truth
of the matter. The same elevation shows the
remains of yet another area of the ruined
church with preserved frescoes. These were
situated on the east wall of the small passage-
way between the erstwhile sanctuary and the
prothesis and on the eastern half of the fallen
arch belonging to the same opening. On the
eastern wall of the passageway is depicted a
bearded standing figure with a halo. The fig-
ure appears to have its right hand raised and
to be holding a book in his left. If the reading
of what is shown is correct this could be the
figure of St. John the Theologian displaying a
text that signals the beginning of the Litur-
gical - Eucharistic cycle. The figure of St. John
the Theologian matching the above description
appears adjacent to the point of entry into the
sanctuary enclosure of Hagios Nikolaos Or-
phanos in Thessaloniki!®. The fresco on the
underside of the broken arch appears to be a
scene possibly depicting two figures seated at
a round table, though details as shown in the
engraving are too schematically rendered to
allow for a clear reading. The scene is a com-
position in its own right, as may be gleaned
from the fact that it is framed by a dark bor-
der characteristically used as a scene-framing
device in Palaiologan fresco painting.

Yet another fresco fragment is recorded on
the second engraving published by Heuzey and
Daumet that depicts the ruin seen from the
north (Fig. 6). This view shows clearly that
the north wall of the naos had practically col-
lapsed in its entirety, save for its extreme
eastern and western parts. Through the ga-
ping hole one sees the remains of the much
better preserved south wall. Clearly discerni-
ble is the Doric column spoil as reused in the
construction of the double-arched opening
that originally led into the enveloping space
of the church on the south side. The eastern
of the two arches is fully discernible. One can
detect the outline of the western of these two
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arches only up to a point. A careful reading of
what is depicted suggests that both arches ap-
pear to have been blocked up at some point,
apparently after the partial collapse of the
western arch. The intervention may have
coincided with the construction of the two
wall buttresses against the west facade of the
naos that were discussed above. A rectangular
door (window?) was apparently left open
within the wall mass constructed under the
collapsed western arch. All surfaces of the
newly added masonry were evidently pla-
stered, but not painted with frescoes. One can
surmise that this was an intervention done
not under optimal circumstances for the small
monastery. In any case, pieces of the original
fresco program seem to have survived the ca-
lamity and appear to have been left visible
following the mentioned repair work. A scene
that is readily visible appears on the spandrel
area between the two arches and directly abo-
ve the Doric shaft used without the capital. It
involves two standing figures. The left figure
is a bearded man striding decisively to the
right, his right arm outstretched in a blessing
gesture. There can be little doubt that this fi-
gure represents Christ, and that the subject is
one of the Miracle scenes. Considering the lo-
cation of the composition, inside the church
naos, this could only be the Raising of Lazarus,
the one Miracle scene normally included in the
Dodecaorton, or the Twelve Great Feasts
depicted prominently within the church naos.
Compositions depicting the Raising of Lazarus
abound in Late Byzantine art. In our analysis
we will limit ourselves to two relevant exam-
ples. The first appears on the south wall of
the naos of the church of Christ Savior at
Veroia, whose well-preserved frescoes are
dated 1314-15 (Fig. 12)19. An integral part of
the cycle illustrating the Life and Passion of
Christ, the Raising of Lazarus appears here
approximately in the middle of the south wall
of the church. The composition is relatively
confined within a rectangular vertical frame.
The chief protagonists —Christ and Lazarus—
face each other. Christ is depicted moving
from left to right with his right arm out-
stretched in a blessing gesture. The sarcopha-
gus containing Lazarus’ wrapped body is
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shown standing up, on account of the con-
strained space. Similar considerations appear
to have been employed at the Palatitzia-Ver-
gina church, where the available space would
have been even tighter. However, the central
location because of its own intrinsic impor-
tance in the organization of the interior, se-
ems to have been the major determining fa-
ctor for the placement of the scene. In this
context, the location of the scene in the
church of Hagios Nikolaos Orphanos in Thes-
saloniki is also of considerable interest (Fig.
13). Though appearing in a higher zone, the
vertical alignment of the composition with
the column of the double arcade below and,
therefore, its relative position within the naos
is identical to the position of the scene in the
Palatizia-Vergina church. The elevation of the
scene into a higher zone in the Thessalonikan
monument, it should be noted, is a function of
the greater height of that building thus mak-
: - : ing the introduction of an entire additional
Fig. 12. Veroia, Christos Soter, Raising of zone of frescoes illustrating secondary scenes

Lazarus, fresco (photo: after S. Pelekanides). from the Life and Passion of Christ possible.
Eix. 12. Bépoia. Xpiotés Xwtipas. H Avdotaon . . . .
vou Aaldpou, to1yoypagia (pov. 2. Iledexavidn) During my visit to the site in the summer
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Fig. 13. Thessaloniki, Hagios Niko- K P :/-

laos Orphanos, south interior eleva-
tion of naos with schematic layout
of fresco compositions; 3 - Raising
of Lazarus

(after A. Xyngopoulos).

Eix. 13. Ocooalovikn. Ayiog
NixoéAdaog Oppavig. Notia opn
£0WTEPIKOU KUPIWEG vaoU e /" k\
OXT)UATIKO HEPIYPAUUQA TOU IPOYyPAL-
H1Ato¢ TV TOIXOYpaPIoV.

(A. Euyydmouldog).
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Fig. 14. Various stone elements at the site (author).
Eix. 14. Aidpopa AiBiva otoixeia otov apxaioAoyiké xwpo (pwt. Tou ypdpovtog).

of 1982, I attempted to determine whether
there were any visible remains of the Byzan-
tine monastery. I could find no recognizable
architectural components belonging to the By-
zantine monument, simply because it had been
built of ancient spoils from the palace. Once

removed from their secondary, Byzantine con-
text and reunited with other ancient material,
all of those elements lost their idiosyncratic
characteristics as spoils. Among the stone
components of the Hellenistic palace scattered
about the site, I did find one piece that, in my

Fig. 15. Stone baptismal
font, drawing (author).

Eix. 15. AiOivn koAupubrifpa
(pwt. TOU Yypdpovtog).




A LOST BYZANTNE MONASTERY AT PALATITZIA - VERGINA

76 cm

Fig. 16. Stone baptismal font, drawing (author).
Eix. 16. Ai6ivn koduubrifpa (pwt. tou ypdpovtog).

opinion, may be associated with the lost Byza-
ntine monastery. The piece in question is a
broken stone vessel belonging either to a bap-
tismal font, or to a monastic phiale (Figs. 14,
15 and 16). Measuring roughly 90cm in its ma-
ximum diameter and 76cm in height, slightly
conical in shape, the vessel appears to have
been re-cut from a Doric column drum. Its ex-

Fig. 17. Kaisariani
Monastery; baptismal font
(photo: L. Bouras).

Eix. 17. Movi Kaioapiaviig.
KoAupubnbpa (pwt. A.
Mioupa).
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terior surface is quite rough, while its inte-
rior surface is relatively smooth. The basic
shape, scale and even the manner of work-
manship correspond closely to those of a
group of Late Byzantine baptismal fonts. The
closet example in the Greek context that is
known to me is that from the inner narthex
of the church at Kaisariani Monastery near
Athens, but unfortunately of an unknown
date (Fig. 17). Unpublished, and evidently
unstudied, this piece belongs to a large body
of material that Byzantine archaeologists and
art historians are yet to take a proper notice
of. In any case, the Kaisariani font most cer-
tainly post-dates the original 11tP-century
construction, and may well be related to one
of the later architectural expansions of the
church. We are on far safer grounds with a
number of similar fonts from Serbia, several
of which are still in situ and within securely
dated contexts.20 In some ways the closest
example is the font of Gracanica Monastery
(Fig. 18)2L. No longer in its original position,
this font once stood within the inner narthex
of the church where it was probably installed
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Fig. 18. Gracanica Monastery; original baptismal font (photo: author).

Eix. 18. Movr tn¢ Gracanica. Apxiki koAuubrfpa (pwt. tou ypdeovtog).

at the time of the completion of the fresco
decoration, in 1321. The Gracanica font is con-
siderably smaller than the one at Palatitzia-
Vergina, measuring only 36cm in its maxi-
mum diameter. I have argued elsewhere that
the size of this font was determined by the
extremely narrow space —barely 2m wide—
within which it was situated?2. A slightly

later font of the same general type found in
the spacious narthex of the monastery church
of Decani, for example, measures 80 cm in
diameter (Fig. 19). We can only speculate that
the font at Palatitsia-Vergina stood within
the envelope space surrounding the naos, and
most likely in the south-west corner where
such fonts are commonly found. If our re-

Fig. 19. Decani Monastery;
baptismal font (photo: author).
E1x. 19. Movrj tn¢ Decani.
koAupnBrbpa (pwt. tou
YPAQovTog).
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construction of the church plan is correct, the
corner area of the Palatitzia-Vergina church
would have measured roughly 3 by 3m, lea-
ving adequate room for peripheral circulation
around a font measuring 90cm in diameter.

The foregoing investigation of the lost By-
zantine monastery and its church at Palati-
tzia-Vergina provides us with strong indica-
tions that it was a creation of the Late By-
zantine period. The plan and the architecture
of the church were found to have their closest
parallels in three late Byzantine churches of
Veroia and Thessaloniki. Similarities with
these monuments were noted in several dis-
tinctive areas, such as scale, disposition of the
plan scheme using the simple building core
with a lower envelope, and in the use of iden-
tical structural and formal elements. Even
the choice and placement of individual fresco
scenes and the manner of their integration
into the decorative program as a whole reveal
striking resemblance to those found in the
churches of Veroia and Thessaloniki. Finally,
the type of baptismal font finds its closest
parallels among Serbian fonts of the third and
fourth decades of the fourteenth century. On
the basis of all of the above criteria, the mo-
nastery at Palatitsia-Vergina appears to have
been a late Byzantine foundation dating from
the first half of the fourteenth century.

Our present state of knowledge of documen-
tary material offers no firm clues as to the id-
entity of the monastery, its founder, or the
occupants of this establishment. The tradition
that the church was named Hagia Triada, as
reported by Heuzey, may be old, but we have
no way of confirming it. Notwithstanding the
dearth of hard evidence, circumstantial his-
torical evidence would seem to support the
conclusions drawn from archaeological in-
formation as presented above. The town of
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Veroia was an important provincial adminis-
trative center in Palaiologan times?3. The first
document attesting to this dates from 1324,
during the reign of Andronikos II Palaiolo-
g0s24. Two other documents, one dated 1325,
and the other 1338, indicate that the Athonite
monastery of Vatopedi owned some water
mills at Palatitzia, near VeroiaZ. According to
another document from 1343, Manuel Kanta-
kuzenos was entrusted by his father, John
Kantakuzenos, with the administration of
Veroia and its environs26. He held this posi-
tion until the Serbian conquest of Veroia in
1345 or 1346. There appears to have been a
brief period of relative prosperity in the life
of this region during the first half of the
fourteenth century followed in the 1350s and
later by a period of frequent sieges and politi-
cal turmoil. These general historical observa-
tions seem to concur with our archaeological
observations, and support our tentative dat-
ing of the Palatitzia-Vergina monastery to the
third or fourth decade of the fourteenth cen-
tury.

The foregoing investigation, notwith-
standing all of its limitations, has enabled us
to salvage from oblivion one of the many By-
zantine vestiges lost under the spade of nine-
teenth and twentieth century archaeology.
Our debt of gratitude must be extended to the
two Frenchmen, Heuzey and Daumet, who had
sufficient foresight to record vestiges of a
small Byzantine church, actually a whole mo-
nastery, before their ultimate removal. This
act, as uncommon as it may have been in 19th
century archaeological practice ought to alert
us at least to the possibility that other classi-
cal archaeologists may have acted equally re-
sponsibly and that their documentation may
hold surprising information for those who
concern themselves with the Byzantine past.
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FOOTNOTES

1. Material in this article was first presented in
an abridged form as lecture at the Tenth Annual
Byzantine Studies Conference. S. Cur¢&i¢, “A Lost
Byzantine Monastery at Palatitsia-Vergina,” Tenth
Annual Byzantine Studies Conference. Abstracts of
Papers (1984), p. 50.

2. The principal publication on the excavation of
the Hellenistic palace is L. Heuzey and H. Daumet,
Mission archéologique de Macédoine (Paris, 1876).
For a brief assessment of the archaeological of the
site see Ph. M. Petsas, “Verghina” The Princeton
Encyclopedia of Classical Sites, ed. By R. Stillwell, et
al. (Princeton, 1976), 967-8. Most recently Ch. Sa-
atsoglou-Paliadeli, “The Palace of Vergina-A-
egae and Its Surroundings,” The Royal Palace Insti-
tution in the First Millennium B.C., ed. I. Nielsen,
Monographs of the Danish Institute in Athens 4
(2001), 201-13.

3. Heuzey and Daumet, op. cit., 184

4. Petsas, op. cit., p. 967, mistakenly refers to
the chapel as still standing and describes it as being
“post-Byzantine”.

5. Heuzey and Daumet, op. cit.

6. The standard, albeit outdated work of Byzan-
tine monastic architecture is A. Orlandos,
Monasteriaké architektoniké, (Athens, 1958). A use-
ful compilation of Byzantine and post-Byzantine
monastery plans (mostly in Greece) is K.
Papaioannou, Ta Hellenika monasteria san
architectonikes syntheseis (Athens, 1977). S. Po-
povié, Krst u krugu. Arhitektura manastira u
srednjovekovnoj Srbiji (Cross in Circle. Architectu-
re of Monasteries in Medieval Serbia) (Belgrade, 19-
94), provides a methodologically completely new
approach to the problems of Medieval monastic ar-
chitectural tradition in the Balkans, albeit limited
in this case, to the material of Medieval Serbia.

7. Research conducted on Mount Athos in recent
years provides some insights into the process of
monastic enclosures changing their form over time;
c¢f. P.L. Theocharides, “Recent research into
Athonite monastic architecture, tenth-sixteenth
centuries,” Mount Athos and Byzantine Mona-
sticism, A. Bryer and M. Cunningham, eds.
(Aldershot, 1996), pp. 205-21.

8. Saatsoglou-Paliadeli (as in f.n.2), pp.
204-5, who discusses the problem of reconstruction
of the ancient propylon with references to up-to-
date literature on the problem. The issue, clearly, is
subject of a continuing scholarly debate.

9. C. Bouras, “L’église de la Théotokos de la
citadelle d’Argos,” Bulletin de correspondence Hel-
lenique 111 (1987), 455-69, esp. 465-6, where the use
of spoils as building material is discussed

10. Th. Papazotos, He Veroia kai oi naoi tes
(110s-180s ai.) (Athens, 1994), esp. pp. 161-220.

11. Ibid., 169-70.

12. The type is generally referred to as a small
‘three-aisled basilica.” This term is inadequate and
requires a more nuanced definition. For a detailed
discussion of functional and terminological issues
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see E. Hadjitryphonos, To peristoo stén ekkle-
siastiké architektonike tés hopsimes periodou tés
Vyzantinés Autokratorias (Peristoon in ecclesia-
stical architecture of the Late Byzantine Empire),
Ph.D. Diss., Department of Architecture, Aristotle
University of Thessaloniki (Thessaloniki, 2000), pp.
35-64. A book under the same title is currently in
press. For a specific discussion of terminology relat-
ed to the enveloping spaces in Byzantine church
architecture see eadem, “Peristoon or Ambulatory
in Byzantine Church Architecture. Concepts and
Terms”, Saopstenja XXXIV-2002, pp. 131-143.

13. Papazotos (as in f.n.10), pp. 196-7.

14. Despite a plethora of studies on the frescoes of
H. Nikolaos Orphanos and various aspects of the build-
ing’s murky history, the most extensive study of its
architecture surprisingly still is A. Xyngopoulos,
Tessares mikroi naoi tés Thessalonikés ek ton chronon
Palaiologon (Thessaloniki, 1952), pp. 29-44. The problem
of the peristoa in the church is discussed by Hadjit-
ryphonos, To peristoo, op. cit., vol. 2, pp. 103-6.

15. G.M. Velenis, Mesovyzantiné naodomia
sté Thessalonike (Athens, 2003), pp. 107-11, suggests
that the building core of H. Nikolaos Orphanos may
be substantially a remnant of an originally Middle
Byzantine (late 12tP first half of the 13'h century)
church built without ambulatories. For this hypo-
thesis to become acceptable would require consid-
erably more definitive archaeological verifications
than Velenis is able to provide.

16. S. Cur¢&i¢, “Architecture in the Byzantine
Sphere of Influence Around the Middle of the
Fourteenth Century,” in Decani i vizantijska umet-
nost sredinom XIV veka, V.J. Djurié, ed. (Belgrade,
1989), esp. pp. 60-62.

17. P. Theocharides, “Tower. Mariana,
Greece,” in Secular Medieval Architecture in the
Ba]kans, 1300-1500, and Its Preservation, S.
Curci¢ and E. Hadjitryphonos, eds. (Thessa-
loniki, 1997), pp. 220-221, fig. 3 (tower entrance
door).

18. Ch. Bakirtzis, ed., Ayios Nikolaos Orphanos.
The Wall Paintings (Nea Smirni, 2003), pl. 20, left.

19. S. Pelekanides, Kalliergis, o tés Thettalias
aristos zographos (Athens, 1973).

20. 0. Kandié¢, “Fonts for the Blessing of Wa-
ters in Serbian Medieval Churches,” Zograf 27 (1998-
99), 61-78.

21. 8. Cur¢ié, Gracanica. King Milutin’s Church
and Its Place in Late Byzantine Architecture (Univer-
sity Park and London, 1979), p. 35, and Fig. 79.

22. S. Cur¢i¢, “The Original Baptismal Font
of Gracanica and its Iconographic Setting,” Zbornik
Narodnog muzeja, Beograd 9-10 (1979), 314-23.

23. For an overview Veroia history, see Papa-
zotos, Hée Veroia, (as in f.n. 10), pp. 37-66.

24. Thid., p. 55.

25. V. Kravari, Villes et villages de Macédoi-
ne occidentale (Paris, 1989), p. 85.

26. Papazotos, He Veroia, (as in f.n. 10), p. 57.
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ENA XAMENO BYZANTINO MONAXTHPI
XTA ITAAATITZIA - BEPI'INA

IIEPIAHYH

Axgoépn ka1 mp1v TV eVIUO®OIAKYH aOVAKAAU-
w1 evog onupavtikoy pakedovikoy Baoidikoy
tapou otn Sexkaetia tou 70, to dvopa tng Bep-
yivag frav moAU yvwotd 0ToUg (POITNTEG TIG
apyaiag eAAnvikng téxvng kai moAitiopou. H
MEPIOXI) OUYKEVIP®WOE V1A IPMTN QOpd TO ap-
Xa10Aoy1K6 evOia@épov KATd T1¢ OEKAETIEG TOU
1850 ka1 1860, étav nAbav oto WG T AIOuEl-
vdpla evog peydAdou eAAnVioTIKOU avakTOpoU
(Zx. 1). To avaktopo NTav KTIOPEVO 0 UWORA
mou Oeomodel tng kKo1Addag tou AAidrpova —n
omoia amoteldei Bookotomo — ka1 Bpioketal ot
péon oxedov tng améotaong petvaly Bepyivag
ra1 ITaAatitoiov. O Léon Heuzey, o I'dAAog ap-
Xa10A6yog mouU emOoKEPONKE TPOTOG TNV TOIO-
Beoia to 1855, avépepe 6T1 ekel umnpyxav tad
«ypa@ikA egpeima» evog Bulaviivou vaou mmou
eixe eyratadeipbei mpo moAdou. Ta umoAeippa-
TA AUTOU TOU VAOU, TOV OII0I0 AVAYyV®PIoE KOG
tov vao tng Ayiag Tpiabag, amopaxpuvOnrav
0T0 0UVOAO ToUug Katd tTn O14pKeld TWV Onua-
VIIK®OV aVAoKAP®OV ToU avaktopou. Kat' autdv
tov tplémo, o vaodg vnnpe éva amd ta moAAd
ouyxXpova moAlTI0TIKA pvnueia mou Xabnkav
Adyw tou (Aou tng kAaooiknig apxaiodoyiag
tou 8eKATOU eVATOU Kl T®WV APX®V TOU €1KO-
otoU aidva. H an®Aeid tou Ba ntav mAnpng
edv o Heuzey ka1 o ouvepydrng tou, H. Dau-
met, Sev eixav Snpooievoel ta tpia oxEdia Ttou
vaou. Ta ev Adyw o0x€81a —éva tomoypa@iko
ox€610 ka1 6Go mAdyleg Oyelg— KATAPTIOTNKAY
tov ZentéubBpio tou 1861, Aiyo 1mpiv tnv opioti-
K1 Kataotpo@1n tou vaou. Ilapd tnv ouo1aoTiky
toug onuaoia, ta oxeédia —ta omoia Onpooiev-
Onkav oe évav topo mou agopovoe ta KAaooi-
K& ka1 EAAnviotikd eupfpata— Siépuyav tng

1mpocoXn¢ twv Bulavtivodoywv.

H Aemtopepric avdAuon tou Tomoypa@ikod
oxebiou mou Snpooietbnre amd voug Heuzey
ra1 Daumet amoralvmtel 6t1 ta «ypa@ird epei-
ma» ota omoia ava@épbnkav ntav KAt meplo-
06TeEPO amd €vav amAo vaod. LTV mpayPaTiKo-
TNTa, enpoKelTo yia €va 0AOKANPo povaotnpla-
KO oUYKpOTHIA piKpoU peyéboug to omoio eixe
Xtiotel emdve ota amopelvdapla tng mUAng tou
apxaiou avaktopou (Xx. 2). H oxeb6v opBoyh-
via e§wteplkn em@aveld tou eixe mepimou 28 -
30 pétpa mAdrog ka1 38 pévpa prikog. Ilapd tnv
KATEOTPAIPEVY) OWD TOV JIOVAOTIK®OV KATAAU-
patwv, dnwg amelkovi{ovtal 0To XWPoTa&lko
ox£610, eival oa@ég 6t1 pia oe1pd Swpatiov pe
Srapopetikd peyébn Kol oxnpata amoteAovoav
Toug ewtepikoUG ToiXoUg, oxnuatifovag avoi-
XTH KEVTPIKN aUAT, 0TO PMEOOV TNG OIoiag UTI)-
pxe 1 ekkAnoia. Av xa1 8e yvwpiloupe tov ap-
X1TEKTOVIKO XOPAKTNPA TOU HOVAOTIPIAKOU
OUYKPOTNATOG, €ival oa@ég 6Tl TO POVAOTHPl
Kal 1 eKKAnoia eixav oxed1aotel Kal KATAOKEU-
aoBei tauvtoxpova (Zx. 3). H 60An Gidvaln eivar
161aitepa ouppetpiky Kal @aivetal O0t1 dev
emnABav onpavrtikég mpoobnKeg 1 PeTATPOIEG
IIP1V TNV OP10TIKY €YKATAAE1WI TOU MIKPOU
autoU povaotnplou. O1 apxég oxediaopold mou
Xpnoipomombnrav eivar oUp@veg pe 60a yvo-
pidoupe oxetikd pe to oxeSiaopo twv Bulavti-
VOV POVA0oTNPIOV, 0nwg autdg amelkoviletal
0t0 Xwpota&iko oxéSio tng povng tou Ooiou
MeAetiou, tou evlerdtoUu aidva, otov YHNTTo,
Kovta otnv Abrva.

H exxAnoia amotelovviav amd évav povo-
KA1TO0 Kevipiko Xwpo (S1actdoewv mepimou 4,75
x 9m) ka1 a6 évav efwtepird BonbnTikd XMPo
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oxnpavog U (Xx. 5). O1 mAeupikoi toixol tou
vaou O1akomtoétav amd OUPPETplKA {euyn
S1mAV awibwv o1 omoieg otnpiloviav oto ué-
oov a6 kKiova SwpikoU pubuol mou mpopavog
mpoepXotav amd ta epeima tou avartopou. To
0X£€610 TIOU ame1Kovidel TNV ePEIN®IEVT) EKKAT-
oia amd ta Bopeia, Seixvel 6t1 o Bopelog Toixog
eixe xatappevoel oxedov mAnpwg ka1l 6Tl 0TO
VOTIO TOIX0 £yIVAV EKTETAPEVEG EIIOKEUES e
T1¢ omoieg €kAeioav ta SUo tofwtd avoiypata
mou otnpidoviav otov dwpiko6 Kiova (Xx. 6).

Ta yevikd apXITEKTOVIKA XOPAKTNPIOTIKA
NG eKKANOiag, amoKAAUIITOUV £€Vav XapaKTnpl-
OTIKO APXITEKTOVIKO TUIo tng Uotepng Bula-
vTivig mep16dou. 18iaitepn onpaoia, oe autd to
onpueio, Ba eixe pia oUYKplOn HE TIG EKKANOieg
g yeirtovikng Bépolag, akpdlov aotiko KEVTPO
Katd to 8€kato tétapto aidva. Avo amd autég
T1g ekkAnoieg xpndouv 181aitepng mpoooxng Ao-
Yo tn¢ tumoloyiag Kar tou peyéboug toug. H
np®tn eival n ekkAnoia tou Ooiou Tewpyiou
tou dpyovtog I'pappatikoy, éva Ktiplo pe moA-
Aég @Aoe1g KATAOKEUTNG, 1) IPAOTY) €K TWV OIMoi-
®WV avikrel 0to 6€KATO TETAPTO AIOVA KOl IIa-
pouUo1ddel ONPOVTIKEG ORO10TNTEG [E TNV €K-
rAnoia twv ITaAatitoiwv oty Bepyiva (Zx. 7).
H G8etUtepn ekkAnoia pe mapdépola Xapaxtnpi-
otikd eivar 1 IHavayia ITepiBAentog, tng omoiag
1 IPpAOTY @A0T KATAOKEUTNG evOEXETAL VO AVAKEL
010 8¢rato TvéTOAPTO AlOva, mbavov arpiBmg
petd tnv katdAnyn tng Bépolag amd toug O0w-
pavoug (2x.8). H mapouoia autdv twv 800
ekkAnoi®v oty Bépoia, o1 omoieg xpovoAloyou-
vtalr amd tnv votepn Bulavtivy mepiodo, aro-
Seixkvuel o0t1 1 ekkAnoia twv IHadatitoiov Ba
mpémel va avikel otnv idia eupeia Xpovikn
mepiodo. H povaotnpiakn exgAnoia tou Ayiou
NikoAdou tou Opgavou otn Oeooadovikn, emi-
ong mapouoldlel pia eKIANKTIKAG mapopola 14~
taén otnv kavoyn (Xx. 9). O1 xaAd Siatnpnpé-
veg torxoypagieg tng kaAAitexviOnkav petali
1310 ka1 1320 ka1, OUVEN®G, 1 APXITEKTOVIKN
Tou vaou Oewpeitar 6t1 avikel otnv idia Xpovi-
K1) mepiodo.

Katd tn Sidpreia tng emiokewng pou otov
X®po, to kKadokaipl tou 1982, katdgpepa va
EVTOIIiow €va eUupnua To omoio, KAtd Ttnv Amo-
W1 pou, pmopel va oxetidetal pe to Xapévo Bu-
Cavtivo povaotipl (Xx. 14). To ev Adyw eUupnpa

SLOBODAN CURCIC

eival éva rKoppatiaopévo métpivo Soxeio, to
ommoio pmopei va amoteloUuoe PéEpog eite T1GQ
KoAupnnOpag, eite KAmolag Q1AAng amod To
povaothpr (Xx. 15 ka1 16). 'Eva dAdo oxetiko
eUpnpa IIOU EVTOIIIOTNKE 0TOV €AANVIKO X®PO
eival autd tou eowtepikoU vApONKa tng eKKAN-
oiag oto Movaotnpr tng Kaicapiavrg, xovia
otnv Abrfva, dyvwotng Suotuxmg xpovoloyiag
(Zx. 17). Katd gdmoiov tpdémo 1o M0 OXETIKO
eupnpa eivar n koAupmmOpa tng Movig Graca-
nica (Xx. 18). Mia koAdupnbpa mapopoiag
TEXVOTPOITiag evromifetal 0Tov eupUXwpo Vap-
Onka tng exkxAnoia tng povig Decani (Xx. 19).

Ta xatayeypappéva amopeivapla tou Xapé-
vou BulavTtivou povaotnploU Kal TI¢ eKKAnoiag
ota IlaAavitola tng Bepyivag amoteAouv onpa-
viikég evOeifelg 6T1 empoKelto yla pia KaAta-
okeun] tng votepng Bulavtivig mepi6dou. Dai-
vetal 0t1 ummnpxe pia Bpayxeia mepiobog oxeti-
KI)G eunpuepiag otnv mepiloxny Katd tn O1dpkela
TOU OPOTOU M100U TOU 8&KATOU TETAPTOU
atova, aAdd ka1 katd tn Seraetia vou 1350,
tnv omoia S1a8éxOnke pia mepiodog oUXVAOV
MOAIOPKIOV KOl IOAITIK®OV AVATAPAX®dV. Autég
01 YeVIKEG 10TOPIKEG MAPATNPHOELG paiveTal 0Tl
oupBadiouv pe TIG¢ apXa10A0YIKEC IMAPATIPI-
0€1¢ Kal Umootnpiouv tnv Amowyn Imou tormobe-
tel TNV Kataokeun tou povaotnpiod twv [Hala-
Titoiov tng Bepyivag otnv tpity 1§ otnv tétap-
t1n Sekaetia tou §eKATOU TETAPTOU ALOVAL

H épeuvd pag, mapd toug mepioplopouva,
mapeixe tn Suvatotnta va Siacoooupe amd T
Affn éva a6 ta moAAd Budavtiva ixvn mou Xda-
Onkav Katw amod T oKamdvin tng apyxaioloyiag
tou 8exdtou eVATOU KAl €1KOOTOU Al®VA.
‘Exoupe xpéog va Seifoupe euyvwpoodvn 0toug
600 T'dAAoug, tov Heuzey ka1 tov Daumet, o1
01oiol eixav TNV IPOvOnTIKOTNTA VA KATAYyPAa-
wouv ta umoAsippata tng pirpng Bulaviivig
eKKAnoiag, ouo1aoTiKA evog 0AOKANpou pova-
0TNP10U, IIPIV TNV O0PI0TIKN AIOPAKPUVOI] TOUG.
Avutn 1 mpdén, aouvhbng yia tnv apXaioAoyiknj
MPAKTIKI TOU 8eKATOU evatou aidva, Oa mpémel
va pag odnynoer otnv umobeon 6t1 Kar GAAol
KAaoo1kol apxaioddyolr evoééxetal va eviipynoav
e&ioou umeubuva ka1 va oupmepiédaBav otnv
TEKPNPIWOT] TOUG HmANPOMOPIEC ONPAVTIKEG Yid
toug epeuvntég tng Budavtivhg mep16§ou.



